# **RECEIVED** 05-21-2019

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT II Appeal No. 2018-AP-1189

SANDRA J. WEIDNER,

Petitioner-Appellant,

v.

CITY OF RACINE,

Respondent-Respondent.

Appeal from a Final Judgment entered on May 16, 2018, in Racine County Circuit Court, the Honorable Eugene A. Gasiorkiewicz Presiding Circuit Court Case No. 17-CV-1644

## BRIEF OF PETITIONER-APPELLANT SANDRA J. WEIDNER

Mark R. Hinkston (State Bar No. 1022427) KNUTESON, HINKSTON & QUINN, S.C. 500 College Avenue Racine, Wisconsin 53403 (262) 633-2000

Attorneys for Petitioner-Appellant Sandra J. Weidner

#

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES

(1) Did Petitioner-Appellant Weidner have the right to file an amended petition for writ of mandamus to clarify that her claimed relief extended to all documents presented at the Executive Committee meeting approving the Ethics Board advisory opinion?

Answered by the circuit court: No.

(2) Was the case rendered moot as a matter of law by virtue of the Common Council's receipt of copies of the Ethics Board submission, despite the need to resolve the issue of whether non-production based on privilege was justified?

Answered by the circuit court: Yes.

(3) Was it unreasonable for the circuit court to conclude, in considering whether Weidner prevailed, that the filing of the present action was not "the catalyst" for the City Attorney's ultimate production of the requested public records?

Answered by the circuit court: No.

(4) Were the subject documents requested via the Public Records Law protected as attorney-client privileged, attorney work product, or confidential health information, thus justifying the City's non-production of the documents in response to the request?

Answered by the circuit court: Yes.

(5) Should all of the Racine City Attorney's memorandum to the City Ethics Board and much of the circuit court's final decision be sealed?

Answered by the circuit court: Yes.

#### STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

The Court's opinion should be published because the case applies established rules of law to a factual situation significantly different from that in published opinions and is a case of substantial and continuing public interest.

Because the briefs can fully present and meet the issues on appeal and fully develop the theories and legal authorities on each side, oral argument is likely unnecessary.

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### I. NATURE OF THE CASE.

This is a public records case. It arises from the Racine City Attorney's refusal to provide documents mooring his Racine Ethics Board advisory opinion request on whether some alderpersons unlawfully disseminated emails to and from the City Attorney's office ostensibly containing confidential or privileged information. This case presents the interplay between the inherent transparency of public records and the shield of attorney-client privilege in the municipal government context. It pits a citizen's right to open records against a city's authority to refuse production based on alleged privileges.

Petitioner-Appellant Sandra J. Weidner ("Weidner") is a long-serving Alderperson on Racine's Common Council. In August 2017, the City Attorney obtained Executive Committee approval for a City Ethics Board advisory opinion on whether some Common Council members' disclosure of e-mail exchanges with the City Attorney was illegal. He refused Weidner's subsequent open records request for the emails, citing closed meeting and attorneyclient confidentiality.

Weidner filed this mandamus action to compel the records' production. Five days later, the City Attorney submitted to the Ethics Board for consideration 18 of the email exchanges presented at the Executive Committee meeting that launched the process. When he did, he also provided copies of the submission to Common Council members, including Weidner.

Although the circuit court ruled that that production rendered the action moot, it nonetheless reviewed the documents in camera, holding that all but five were privileged. Ruling that Weidner had not prevailed under the Public Records Law, it dismissed the action and this appeal ensued.

Weidner challenges the circuit court's non-acceptance of her Amended Petition, dismissal of her original Petition for Mandamus as moot, and rulings that most of the subject documents are exempt from public exposure as privileged. She also seeks reversal of the circuit court's rulings on two redacted documents – the court's final decision and the City Attorney's memorandum to the Ethics Board.

4

# II. PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND AND STATEMENT OF FACTS.

### A. City Attorney Seeks Ethics Board Advisory Opinion.

On August 22, 2017, the Racine City Attorney convened the Racine Common Council Executive Committee in closed session<sup>1</sup> to consider whether to request an advisory opinion from "the City of Racine Board of Ethics regarding the applicability of Racine Ordinance Section  $2-581(a)^2$  to the disclosure of certain confidential information and privileged information, by certain officials, which information was gained in the course of, or by reason of, the officials' official position or official activities." (R6:3-4, ¶6).

Following the City Attorney's presentation at the meeting, the Committee recommended the referral to the Ethics Board. The Common Council thereafter approved. (R6:4,  $\P$  8, 10).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>"Consideration of requests for confidential written advice from [any] municipal ethics board under s. 19.59 (5)" may be held in closed session. Wis. Stat. 19.85(1)(h).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>City of Racine Ord. § 2-581(a) ("Prohibited conduct") provides in part that "[a]ppointed officials and employees . . . shall not disclose confidential information or privileged information gained in the course of, or by reason of his/her official position or official activities."

### B. Weidner's Records Request is Denied.

Weidner (via counsel) subsequently requested copies of the communications which were the subject of the Executive Committee meeting (ostensibly to be submitted to the Board of Ethics). (R1:6-10). The City Attorney refused the request, stating in part that he could not comment on the "substance" of the meeting and, "[f]urther, such Executive Committee meeting was held in closed session. No person has the authority to reveal matters discussed in closed session." (R1:11).

Weidner thereafter reiterated her request [R1:13-14] and again was denied. Via email of October 3, 2017, the City Attorney replied in part: "Inasmuch as I am bound by attorney-client confidence and by the confidentiality of a Closed Meeting, I cannot, and do not, comment on anything contained in your correspondence." (R1:15).

#### C. Weidner Files Mandamus Action.

In view of the refusal to produce the requested records, on November 29, 2017, Weidner commenced this action by filing a

6

Petition for Mandamus. (R1). Five days later, the City Attorney formally submitted his advisory opinion request to the Ethics Board. (R6:5-6, ¶ 16). The request included a memorandum and copies of the allegedly privileged communications presented at the Executive Committee meeting. (R21, 22).

Copies of the materials were provided to each alderperson on the morning of December 5, 2017. (R6:5-6,  $\P$  16). Later that day, the City was served with the Petition for Mandamus. (R1, R6:6,  $\P$ 19).

The City then moved to quash the Petition, primarily alleging that it was moot because of Weidner's receipt of the Ethics Board submission. (R:5, 8).

# D. Circuit Court Refuses to Accept Weidner's Amended Petition.

On February 5, 2018, Weidner filed an Amended Petition for Writ of Mandamus and Other Relief. (R28). The Petition clarified that the mandamus request sought "all documentation (information)" the City Attorney presented at the Executive Committee meeting wherein he sought approval of the ethics board advisory opinion request. (R28:5). The circuit court *sua sponte* refused to accept the Amended Petition for filing. (R111:8).

# E. Circuit Court Seals the Pleadings and Proceedings.

In conjunction with its motion to quash, the City moved to file its supporting brief and submissions under seal. (R11). The circuit court thereafter ordered that all pleadings filed under seal or ordered sealed (including exhibits) could not be shared or disseminated by the parties or their counsel to non-parties until otherwise ordered by the Court. (R31:2, ¶3; A-App. 2). Ultimately, the court ordered that all pleadings "shall be filed under seal and shall remain under seal in their entirety until otherwise ordered by the Court." (R32:1, ¶2; A-App. 3).

At the initial hearing of this matter, the circuit court closed the proceedings to the public. (R111:6-7). It ordered that "[t]he contents of any hearings in this matter that have been closed to the public may not be shared or disclosed by the parties or their counsel to non-parties to this lawsuit until otherwise ordered by the Court." (R31:2,  $\P$ 4; A-App. 2). Thereafter, all proceedings predating this appeal were closed.

#### F. Circuit Court Grants the City's Motion to Quash.

On March 13, 2018, the circuit court heard the City's Motion to Quash. (R112). It granted it as it related to Weidner's request for a writ requiring "that the City provide her with any and all documentation (information) it alleges or submits to the Ethics Board in support of its request of the Board for an advisory opinion." (R41:1; A-App. 4).

The circuit court held that the request was moot in view of Weidner's receipt of documents on December 5, 2017, when the City Attorney provided them to all Common Council members via his Ethics Board submission. (R112:12). It also confirmed its nonacceptance of Weidner's Amended Petition. (R41:2, ¶3; A-App. 5).

# G. The Court Reviews Subject Documents In Camera.

Despite the mootness ruling, the circuit court recognized Weidner's requests for information as public records requests and declared that it would consider to what extent there should have been disclosure under the Wisconsin Public Records Law (Wis. Stat. §§ 19.31-19.39). (R112:11-12).

The court chose to consider the subject documents in camera to assess the extent to which the City could justify non-disclosure on the basis of attorney-client privilege. It ordered the City to file, for in camera review, a privilege log and the subject documents, along with its reasoning as to non-disclosure. (R112:11-12). The City did so and Weidner replied. (R46, 48, 54, 59).

# H. The Circuit Court's Decision: All But Five Documents Are Privileged.

Following review of the documents and the parties' positions, the court rendered its decision on the "limited issue of determining what was and was not appropriately disclosed under a Wisconsin Public Records request." (R62:1; A-App. 6). The court noted that it was undisputed that Weidner made a public records request regarding specific emails and, based on attorney-client privilege, the City Attorney did not disclose any of the items. (*Id.*). Following a discussion of the applicable legal standards and context, the court found 13 of the 18 items to be privileged: 10 protected by attorney-client privilege, two were attorney "work product,"<sup>3</sup> and one contained "federally protected Health Information (HIPPA) and a confidential communication possibly leading to legal exposure to the City." (R62:8-10; A-App. 13-15).

The court rejected the claim that the mandamus action "was required to secure release of the records requested," noting that Weidner received a complete copy of the Ethics Board materials days after filing the action. Thus, it could "not find that the present action was the catalyst for compliance in production of records by the City of Racine." (R61:10-11; A-App. 5-6). Because of Weidner's access, the court held "that issue then became moot." (R61:11; A-App. 16).

Ultimately, while noting that five of the items were not protected "by attorney-client privilege or other asserted

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>The City never asserted privilege based on attorney work product, either when responding to the records requests or during the lawsuit.

privilege,"<sup>4</sup> the court found that the litigation did not in whole or substantial part secure production of the items "as they had already been provided or were fully accessible on the City website." (R61:12; A-App. 17). Thus, the Court denied Weidner's request for attorney's fees, damages, and costs under Wis. Stat. § 19.37(2). (*Id.*).

The circuit court thereafter entered judgment in the City's favor, dismissing the case in its entirety with prejudice. (R68:2).

#### I. The Circuit Court Unseals Much of the Record.

As this Court has noted, prior to deciding what records were privileged, the circuit court sealed the entire record and, later, its decision and final judgment. (R102:2). In conjunction with the media parties' intervention request, this Court ordered the circuit court "to determine which specific documents in the circuit court record should be sealed from public view, if any, and whether the circuit court docket should remain sealed." (*Id.*).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>Actually, the court found that seven of the items were not protected by attorney-client privilege, but as to two of the seven it ruled *sua sponte* that they were protected as attorney work product [R62:9; A-App. 14] – despite the City never asserting that as a non-production basis at any time.

The circuit court complied. (R109). Most documents were unsealed, some albeit with redactions, and the record was returned to this Court. (R109, 118, 120).

#### ARGUMENT

## I. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN REFUSING TO ACCEPT WEIDNER'S AMENDED PETITION BECAUSE, AS A MATTER OF LAW, WEIDNER HAD A RIGHT TO AMEND IT ONCE WITHIN 6 MONTHS, PURSUANT TO WIS. STAT. § 802.09(1).

In her original Petition for Writ of Mandamus, Weidner sought "[a] writ of mandamus requiring that the City provide her with any and all documentation (information) it alleges or submits to the Ethics Board in support of its request of the Board for an advisory opinion as to her actions involving such documentation." (R2:6).

On February 5, 2018, Weidner filed an Amended Petition for Writ of Mandamus and Other Relief which expanded the relief sought to "[a] writ of mandamus requiring that the City provide her with any and all documentation (information) City Attorney Letteney presented at the August 22, 2017 Executive Committee meeting.... " (R29:5). (It is Weidner's contention that the entirety of the emails presented at the Executive Committee meeting were not ultimately submitted to the Ethics Board). (R28:3, ¶ 10).

### A. The Circuit Court Rejects the Amended Petition as "Not Timely."

At the initial hearing, the circuit court rejected the Amended Petition filing as "not timely." (R111:8). At the March 13, 2018 hearing, the circuit court reiterated its rejection of the pleading and, in conformance therewith, ordered that it "is not accepted." (R41:2, ¶3; A-App. 5).

B. In Civil Actions, Including Mandamus, Wisconsin Law Affords a Party the Right to Amend Pleadings Within Six Months of Filing Suit.

Refusing to accept an amended petition is tantamount to refusing to allow the amendment of a pleading.

Mandamus is a civil action and, as such, the Wisconsin civil procedure rules apply. Wis. Stat. §§ 783.01, 801.01(2). Section 802.09(1) of the Wisconsin Statutes provides in relevant part that a party may amend its pleading "once as a matter of course at any time within 6 months after the summons and complaint are filed . . . and leave shall be freely given at any stage of the action when justice so requires."

Thus, "[a]s a matter of course, the statute allows a party one amendment of the pleadings provided it is done within the time limitations established in the statute." *Wiegel v. Sentry Indem. Co.*, 94 Wis. 2d 172, 287 N.W.2d 796, 802 (1980). Subsequent amendments require written consent of the adverse party or leave of court. *Id*.

While a circuit court has wide discretion regarding pleadings amendment, deference to such discretion is only afforded after the 6-month amendment period has passed. *Butcher v. Ameritech Corp.*, 2007 WI App 5, ¶34, 298 Wis. 2d 468, 727 N.W.2d 546 (2006).

## C. Weidner Had an Absolute Right to Amend Her Petition Within Six Months.

Whether a court has usurped the right to amend afforded by section 802.09 is a matter of law the Court reviews de novo. *Kox* 

v. Ctr. for Oral and Maxillofacial Surgery, S.C., 218 Wis. 2d 93, 579 N.W.2d 285, 288 (Ct. App. 1985).

This case was initiated on November 29, 2017 via Weidner's filing of her original Petition. (R1). The Amended Petition [R28] was filed just over two months after the action was filed – long before the 6-month limitation of section 802.09. Thus, it was indeed timely, contrary to the circuit court's statement.

In *Kox*, this Court held that the circuit court improperly refused to accept the Koxes' amended complaint, because they had "an absolute right to amend within the six-month period without leave of the court." 218 N.W.2d at 289, n. 9. The Court also noted that '[t]he statute is, by its terms, mandatory: If the six-month period has not yet passed, a party has the right to amend the pleading .... " *Id.* at 288. Weidner also had an absolute right to amend.

## D. It is Inconsequential That the Amended Petition Was Filed After the Motion to Quash and That the Motion Was Granted.

The fact that the Amended Petition was presented after the City filed its motion to quash the original petition is immaterial and of no consequence to thwart Weidner's right to amend within the 6-month period. *See Welzien v. Kapec*, 98 Wis. 2d 660, 298 N.W.2d 98 (Ct. App. 1980)(vacating trial court's original complaint dismissal because motion to amend was made less than four months after the original complaint filing and plaintiff "had not previously amended his complaint and thus still had the right to amend as a matter of course").

Nor does it matter that the City's motion to quash the original petition was granted. *See, e.g., Fuhrer v. Fuhrer*, 292 F.2d 140, 143 (7th Cir.1961)(holding that plaintiff had "an absolute right to amend" despite trial court's dismissal of the original complaint in the interim); *Peckham v. Scanlon*, 241 F.2d 761, 764 (7th Cir. 1957)(although heeding defendants' contention that the complaint failed to state a claim, noted that plaintiff had the "absolute right" to amend and was "entitled as a right to make the attempt").

Per this Court, section 802.09(1) "leave[s] no room for interpretation or construction" and sets forth a right to amend that "is extinguished only after the passage of six months from the filing of the original complaint." *Kox*, 218 N.W.2d at 288-89 (quoting *Peckham v. Scanlon, supra*). Despite this, the circuit court refused to accept the amended petition, thereby denying Weidner the right to amend. Had the amendment been allowed, the City's motion to quash the original petition would have been moot, although the City presumably would have had the right to file a new motion attacking the amended petition.

The circuit court's decision and order to not accept the amended petition and granting the motion to quash the original petition should be reversed and the case remanded back to the circuit court to afford Weidner the right to file the Amended Petition and have the case proceed accordingly. II. THE OF WHETHER WHERE ISSUE NON-**PRODUCTION** BASED ON ATTORNEY-CLIENT PRIVILEGE REMAINED, IT COULD NOT BE SAID AS OF LAW MATTER THAT THE CASE WAS Α **RENDERED MOOT BY VIRTUE OF** WEIDNER'S **RECEIPT OF COPIES OF THE ETHICS BOARD** SUBMISSION.

Should the Court rule that Weidner's Amended Petition should have been accepted and remands on that basis, that presumably would make it unnecessary for the Court to decide the remaining issues. Nonetheless, Weidner presents those issues and her arguments thereon to aid this Court should it proceed to consider them.

## A. The Circuit Court Held That the Mandamus Request Was Moot Due to the City's Provision of the Ethics Submission to the Common Council Members, Including Weidner.

The City asserted that Weidner's mandamus request for documents was moot because on December 5, 2017, she received the documentation submitted by the City Attorney to the Ethics Board. (R9:14). The circuit court agreed, dismissing the claim as moot, although it also acknowledged viability as to whether there ought to have been disclosure per the records request. (R112:11, 12).

While normally the denial of a mandamus petition is discretionary, "[w]here a trial court determines whether to grant a writ of mandamus under the Wisconsin Public Records Law," review is de novo. *ECO, Inc. v. City of Elkhorn*, 2002 WI App 302, ¶ 15, 259 Wis. 2d 276, 655 N.W.2d 510. The Court does "so ever mindful of" the "presumption of complete public access, consistent with the conduct of governmental business." *Id.* (citation omitted).

Mootness is a question of law that is reviewed de novo. *In re DeLaMatter*, 151 Wis. 2d 576, 591-92, 445 N.W.2d 676 (Ct. App.1989). "A matter is moot if a determination is sought which cannot have a practical effect on an existing controversy." *Id.* (citation omitted).

It is undisputed that on December 5, 2017, Weidner received the City Attorney's submission to the Ethics Board, along with her Common Council colleagues. After suit was filed, the City asserted that Weidner received the documents then in her capacity as a common council member – "because she is a sitting Alderperson" [R39:5] – and not in response to her records request or the lawsuit.

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