RECEIVED

06-20-2019

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT II APPEAL NO. 2018-AP-1189

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

SANDRA J. WEIDNER,

Petitioner-Appellant,

υ.

CITY OF RACINE,

Respondent-Respondent.

Appeal from a Final Judgment entered on May 16, 2018 in Racine County Circuit Court, The Honorable Eugene A. Gasiorkiewcz Presiding Circuit Court No. 17-CV-1644

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF RESPONDENT-RESPONDENT CITY OF RACINE

Michael J. Cohen (State Bar No. 1017787) Garrett A. Soberalski (State Bar No. 1088611) MEISSNER TIERNEY FISHER & NICHOLS S.C. 111 East Kilbourn Avenue, 19th Floor Milwaukee, Wisconsin 53202 (414) 273-1300

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

ARGUMENT

I. WEIDNER FORFEITED HER RIGHT TO ARGUE THAT THE CIRCUIT COURT IMPROPERLY REFUSED HER AMENDED PETITION UNDER WIS. STAT. § 802.09(1).

Generally, appellate courts do not consider legal issues and arguments that are raised for the first time on appeal, Schonscheck v. Paccar, Inc., 2003 WI App 79, ¶ 10, 261 Wis. 2d 769, 661 N.W.2d 476, because appellate courts "will not . . . blindside trial courts with reversals based on theories which did not originate in their forum[,]" id. (citation omitted.) This rule is based on judicial efficiency. State v. Rogers, 196 Wis. 2d 817, 827, 539 N.W.2d 897 (Ct. App. 1995). Without it, parties and the circuit court would lack notice and a fair opportunity to address arguments at the trial-court level, and attorneys could "sandbag" opposing counsel by failing to object to an error for strategic reasons and later claim that the error is grounds for reversal. *State v. Ndina*, 2009 WI 21, ¶ 30, 315 Wis. 2d 653, 761 N.W.2d 612. Furthermore, without this rule, trial courts would be left "to discern and resolve every 'argument' that could have been but was not raised in resolving an issue[,]" a result that is "unfair and certainly illogical." Schonscheck,

2003 WI App 79, ¶ 10. Thus, in order to preserve the right to appeal a specific issue or argument, the appellant must articulate each of its theories to the trial court. *Rogers*, 196 Wis. 2d at 827. The forfeiture rule focuses on whether particular arguments have been preserved, not on whether general issues were raised before the trial court. *See*, *e.g.*, *Townsend v. Massey*, 2011 WI App 160, ¶ 26, 338 Wis. 2d 114, 808 N.W.2d 155.³

Weidner has not preserved the argument that she had a right to amend her Petition under Wis. Stat. § 802.09(1). The circuit court rejected her Amended Petition at the February 5 Hearing and at the March 13 Hearing, (R 111: 8; R 41: 2, ¶ 3; R-App. 2), and Weidner did not raise the argument that she had a right to amend the Petition once within six months under § 802.09(1) at either of these hearings, (R 111; 112.) (*Id.*) Moreover, Weidner never raised this argument or mentioned § 802.09(1) at any time before the entry of the March 14 Order or Final Order, providing an independent basis to conclude she forfeited her new

-

³ State v. Holland Plastics, Co., 111 Wis. 2d 497, 505, 331 N.W.2d 320 (1983), does not save Weidner's § 802.09(1) argument. As Townsend noted, "countless [opinions] after Holland Plastics have reaffirmed that the forfeiture rule focuses on whether particular arguments have been preserved, not on whether general issues were raised before the circuit court." Townsend, 2011 WI App 160, ¶ 25. And rightfully so: if appellate courts were required to address the merits of new legal arguments so long as the arguments related to an issue raised before the circuit court, then this "would seriously undermine the incentives parties now have to apprise circuit courts of specific arguments in a timely fashion so the that judicial resources are used efficiently and the process is fair to the opposing party." Id. ¶ 26.

§802.09(1) argument on appeal. (*See generally* Record); *see also* Wis. Stat. § 805.11(1) (any party who has fair opportunity to object before an order is made must do so in order to avoid waiving error).

This appeal is the first time Weidner has asserted that she had a right to file her Amended Petition under § 802.09(1). Accordingly, Weidner has forfeited the right to raise her new argument that she had a right to amend the Petition once within six months under § 802.09(1). Allowing Weidner to make this argument now would contravene the Wisconsin Supreme Court's directive that parties should not now be allowed to "blindside" the circuit court and "sandbag" opposing counsel by failing to object to an error for strategic reasons and now claim that the error is grounds for reversal. *Ndina*, 2009 WI 21, ¶ 30. Thus, this Court should not consider that argument as a possible basis to reverse the circuit court. *Rogers*, 196 Wis. 2d at 827.

II. THE CIRCUIT COURT CORRECTLY FOUND THAT THE CITY'S PRODUCTION OF THE CONFIDENTIAL ETHICS MEMORANDUM TO WEIDNER MOOTED THE DOCUMENT REQUEST.

Weidner contends that her receipt of the documents she requested in her Document Request did not render her Document Request moot because: (1) she received the Confidential Ethics Memorandum in her capacity as a sitting alderperson (along with all other alderpersons) and not in response to her public records request; and (2) the documents were produced to her (and all the other alderpersons) as confidential and privileged as part of the advisory opinion process and thus, were not "free from the constraints of any legal privilege." (App. Br. at 23.) Weidner's arguments are meritless.

It matters not whether Weidner received the Confidential Ethics Memorandum as a "sitting Alderperson," or with or without the "specter of privilege." (App. Br. at 21-22.) As Weidner concedes, "the voluntary release or production of previously-denied records following the institution of a mandamus action renders such an action moot." *Racine Educ. Ass'n. v. Board of Educ.*, 129 Wis. 2d 319, 323-24, 385 N.W.2d 510 (Ct. App. 1986). (*see* App. Br. at 21.)

Neither her pre-suit requests nor her Petition requested that she receive the documents outside of her role as an alderperson or "free from privilege assertion," as she now contends, again for the first time on appeal. The *ad damnum* clause of the Petition clearly states what she requested:

WHEREFORE, Petitioner, Sandra J. Weidner, requests:

(A) A writ of mandamus requiring that the City provide her with any and all

documentation (information) it alleges or submits to the Ethics Board in support of its request of the Board for an advisory opinion as to her actions involving such documentation:

* * * *

(R 2: 4-5.)

Weidner received the exact documents she requested in her Document Request on December 5, 2017, before the City was served with her Petition. (App. Br. at 7; R 6: 6 ¶ 19; 7: 6 ¶ 17.) No documents within the Confidential Ethics Memorandum were withheld from her on the basis of privilege and the only redactions in the copy of the document she received were to protect the identification of the alderpersons involved, including ironically, herself. (Id.) Thus, Weidner obtained the exact relief she requested in her Document Request. Accordingly, as the circuit court correctly held, her Document Request is moot. See Riley v. Lawson, 210 Wis. 2d 478, 490, 565 N.W.2d 266 (Ct. App. 1997); Walder v. Allen, 31 Wis. 2d 70, 72, 141 N.W.2d 867 (1966).

Weidner's argument that the circuit court "unmooted" the case by considering the City's assertions of privilege as to the subject documents, (App. Br. at 23-24.), is specious. The circuit court analyzed the City's claims of privilege in conjunction with Weidner's request for attorneys'

fees pursuant to § 19.37(2). (R 61: 11-12.) As Weidner concedes, (App. Br. at 24), one whose mandamus action is rendered moot by a voluntary release can still be entitled to attorneys' fees and costs under the public records law. *Racine Educ. Ass'n.*, 129 Wis. 2d at 325. That is the exact issue the circuit court considered when it reviewed privilege in this case. Thus, the circuit court's consideration of the privilege issue was not "incongruous" to its determination that Weidner's Document Request was moot, (App. Br. at 23.), it was necessary to resolve part of Weidner's requested relief that was not mooted by her receipt of the Confidential Ethics Memorandum. (R 111: 9-13; 61:11-12.) Thus, the circuit court's ruling that Weidner's Document Request was mooted when she received the Confidential Ethics Memorandum should be affirmed.

III. THE CIRCUIT COURT'S DETERMINATION THAT THE PETITION WAS NOT THE CATALYST OF THE CITY'S PRODUCTION OF THE CONFIDENTIAL ETHICS MEMORANDUM TO WEIDNER WAS NEITHER UNREASONABLE NOR CLEARLY ERRONEOUS.

Weidner asks the Court to substitute its judgment for the circuit court's and determine that it was not "reasonable" for the circuit court to reach the factual determination that Weidner's Petition was not the catalyst for the City's production of the Confidential Ethics Memorandum to Weidner. Respectfully, this Court should decline.

The circuit court's determination is supported by the undisputed facts and inferences drawn from the documentary evidence and was neither unreasonable nor clearly erroneous. The standard of review for this issue is clear:

A party seeking attorney fees under § 19.37(2), . . . , must show that prosecution of the action could reasonably be regarded as necessary to obtain the information and that a "causal nexus" exists between that action and the agency's surrender of the information. . . . [T]he test of cause is whether the actor's action was a substantial factor in contributing to the result. The action may be one of several causes; it need not be the *sole* cause. Causation is a question of fact, and we will not overturn a trial court's findings as to causation unless they are clearly erroneous. However, in an open records case, causation is often an inference drawn from documentary or undisputed facts. In that situation, as here, we will affirm the trial court's findings as to causation if they are reasonable.

WTMJ, Inc. v. Sullivan, 204 Wis. 2d 452, 458–59, 555 N.W. 2d 140 (Ct. App. 1996) (internal citations omitted). This Court must affirm the circuit court's finding unless it finds that the inferences drawn by the circuit court may not reasonably be inferred from the established evidence. State ex rel. Vaughan v. Faust, 143 Wis. 2d 868, 871, 422 N.W.2d 898 (Ct. App. 1988). Weidner cannot meet this burden.

Weidner erroneously contends that the circuit court's determination was not reasonable because there was "no evidence in the record to support the circuit court's finding that preparation of the [Confidential Ethics Memorandum] was a 'substantial investment' and

'in process long before the present action was filed." (App. Br. at 28.) To make this argument, Weidner paraphrases the circuit court's determination (which is redacted in the public record) and gives the circuit court's analysis short shrift.

The circuit court's finding that preparing the Confidential Ethics Memorandum was a "substantial investment" and "in process long before the present action was filed" was based upon the court's review of the 68-page document. (R 21 & 22; see also R 111: 7-8.) This document included a 17-page detailed confidential memorandum that (i) thoroughly explained the City's advisory opinion request and factual background of the request; (ii) outlined the relevant City ordinances and Wisconsin Supreme Court Rules; (iii) explained the relevant law on privilege; (iv) contained a description of the 18 communications that the City contended were confidential and protected by attorney-client privilege; (v) included redactions to protect the anonymity of the alderpersons involved as required by Racine Ordinance 2-585; and (vi) provided an explanation of the City's position on the privileged nature of each communication. (R 7: 5-6, ¶ 16, Ex. G.) Even a cursory review of this document evidences that the inferences drawn by the circuit court about the time and effort involved in preparing the Confidential Ethics Memorandum are reasonable. Moreover, the City Attorney's affidavit expressly stated that the time delay in submitting the Confidential Ethics Memorandum to the Ethics Board was due, in part, to "the time it took to prepare the Ethics Request." (R 7; 6: ¶ 18.)

Weidner also contends the circuit court applied the wrong standard when it concluded the Petition was not "the" catalyst of Weidner's receipt of the Confidential Ethics Memorandum rather than concluding whether the Petition was "a" cause. However, even if true,4 this would not justify reversal of the circuit court because it is only harmless error. For an error to "affect the substantial rights" of a party under Wis. Stat. § 805.18(2), there must be a "reasonable possibility" that the error contributed to the outcome of the action or proceeding. *Evelyn C.R. v. Tykila S.*, 2001 WI 110, ¶28, 246 Wis. 2d 1, 629 N.W.2d 768; *see also DeNava v. DNR*, 140 Wis. 2d 213, 220, 409 N.W.2d 151 (Ct. App. 1987) (an appellate court will affirm a circuit court that reaches the right result for the wrong reasons.) Harmless errors do not justify reversal of the circuit court. *See id*.

Here, it is undisputed that Weidner provided no evidence to suggest that the City, who had not been served with the Petition at the

_

⁴ Weidner's argument that the Petition was "a" catalyst of the Confidential Ethics Memorandum production is entirely inconsistent with her argument that she received the Confidential Ethics Memorandum "because she is a sitting Alderperson' []—and not in response to her records request *or the lawsuit*." (App. Br. at 20-21.) (emphasis added.)

time Weidner received the Confidential Ethics Memorandum, even knew the Petition had been filed at the time the City provided copies of the Confidential Ethics Memorandum to all alderpersons, including Weidner. Without evidence that the City was actually aware of Weidner's Petition, *a fortiori*, the Petition could not have even possibly been "a" cause of the production of the Confidential Ethics Memorandum to Weidner.⁵

Weidner also argues by negative inference that the City Attorney did not deny having knowledge that the Petition had been filed before the City had been served. (App. Br. at 30.) However, this negative inference does not justify reversal of the circuit court because Weidner had the burden of presenting evidence that the Petition was a substantial factor in contributing to her receiving the Confidential Ethics Memorandum. *State ex rel. Vaughan*, 143 Wis. 2d at 871. As correctly determined by the circuit court, she failed to meet that burden. Thus, regardless of whether the circuit court applied the correct standard, there is no evidence to suggest that the filing of the Petition was even "a" cause of Weidner's receipt of the Confidential Ethics Memorandum, and

⁵ The other "undisputed facts" Weidner contends support an inference that the Petition was a catalyst in her receipt of the Confidential Ethics Memorandum, (App. Br. at 29-30), are immaterial without a showing that the City knew of the Petition at the time the City provided her and all other alderpersons with the Confidential Ethics Memorandum.

any potential error in the legal standard applied by the circuit court was harmless.⁶

Because the inferences drawn by the circuit court in determining that the Petition was not "the" catalyst for her receipt of the Confidential Ethics Memorandum were reasonable and there are no facts of record to suggest that the Petition was even "a" cause for her receipt of the Confidential Ethics Memorandum, this Court must affirm the circuit court's determination. *State ex rel. Vaughan*, 143 Wis. 2d at 871.

IV. THE CIRCUIT COURT CORRECTLY FOUND THAT DOCUMENTS REQUESTED BY WEIDNER WERE PRIVILEGED AND THAT SHE WAS NOT THE PREVAILING PARTY UNDER WIS. STAT. § 19.37(2).

A. General Attorney-Client Privilege under Wisconsin Law.

Communications protected by attorney-client privilege or subject to federal and state non-disclosure statutes are exempt from public records disclosure. *Wis. Newspress, Inc. v. Sch. Dist. of Sheboygan Falls*, 199 Wis. 2d 768, 783, 546 N.W.2d 143 (1996); see

court addressed the issue of causation. (R 111: 7-8.) Thus, she has forfeited that argument. *Rogers*, 196 Wis. 2d at 827.

⁶ Weidner contends, for the first time, she should be allowed to explore the factual issue of causation by discovery or an evidentiary hearing. (App. Br. at 31-32.) Weidner, who carried the burden to prove causation to be entitled to attorneys' fees, neither initiated any discovery on the issue nor requested that the circuit court allow her an opportunity to do so at any time before entry of the Final Order. (*See generally* Record.) Nor did Weidner ever request an evidentiary hearing or request to present evidence at any scheduled hearing, including the March 13 Hearing when the circuit

also Wis. Stat. § 19.36. A client "has a privilege to refuse to disclose and to prevent any other person from disclosing confidential communications made for the purpose of facilitating the rendition of professional legal services." Wis. Stat. § 905.03(2)

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